# Shared PV systems in multi-scaled communities

Assessing its benefits in Swedish apartment buildings

Affonso Canoilas and Alina Pasina

Master thesis in Energy-efficient and Environmental Buildings Faculty of Engineering | Lund University



#### Lund University

Lund University, with eight faculties and several research centers and specialized institutes, is the largest establishment for research and higher education in Scandinavia. The main part of the University is situated in the small city of Lund which has about 112 000 inhabitants. Several departments for research and education are, however, located in Malmö. Lund University was founded in 1666 and has today a total staff of 6 000 employees and 47 000 students attending 280-degree programs and 2 300 subject courses offered by 63 departments.

#### Master Program in Energy-efficient and Environmental Building Design

This international program provides knowledge, skills and competencies within the area of energy-efficient and environmental building design in cold climates. The goal is to train highly skilled professionals, who will significantly contribute to and influence the design, building or renovation of energy-efficient buildings, taking into consideration the architecture and environment, the inhabitants' behavior and needs, their health and comfort as well as the overall economy.

The degree project is the final part of the master program leading to a Master of Science (120 credits) in Energy-efficient and Environmental Buildings.

Examiner: Dennis Johansson (Building Services) Main supervisor: Henrik Davidsson (Energy and Building Design) Co-supervisor: Rafael Campama Pizarro (Energy and Building Design) Keywords: Shared, Photovoltaic, Profitability, Self-Consumption Publication year: 2022

## Abstract

In the past years, Sweden had been facing rapid growth of photovoltaic cells and total PV installation capacity increased from 300 kW to 1090 MW (2006-2020). To increase the number of PV users and therefore assist in achieving multiple sustainable goals regarding renewable energy, the installations of such systems were actively supported by the Swedish government. This project is aimed on evaluating the profitability of shared PV systems in communities of different sizes in Sweden. The current study used 1067 hourly measured electricity profiles of individual Swedish apartments to create multi-scaled\_communities with shared PV systems. The trading model was implemented to simulate electricity trading among prosumers in the community using Visual Basic Applications (VBA) in Excel. Further, the electricity costs were used for Life Cycle Cost assessment (LCC). The LCC results for shared PV systems were later compared to households that own PV individually and households that do not own a PV system to demonstrate the increase of profitability. The results were obtained for two locations in Sweden: Karlstad and Kiruna. The results portrayed the financial benefits of shared PV systems in comparison with individually owned PV systems.

## Acknowledgement

We would like to thank our main supervisor Henrik Davidsson for guiding us and supporting our project development. We have a special thanks to Henrik and Dennis Johansson for developing initial idea for the current project. Furthermore, we would like to thank our co-supervisor Rafael Campama Pizarro, who provided us huge technical support throughout the project and let us use necessary equipment to perform simulations. Also, we would like to thank both Henrik and Rafael for interesting and productive discussions.

Secondly, we would like to thank Hans Bagge, Lotti Lindstrii and Dennis Johansson for collecting the initial data of electricity profiles that the current work was based on. And Victor Fransson for sorting, filtering, and inspecting the measured data.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract				
Acknowledgement				
1. Introduction				
1.1.	State-of-the-art	6		
1.2.	Electricity regulations in Sweden	7		
1.3.	Aim & objectives	8		
1.4.	Limitations	8		
1.5.	Hypothesis	8		
2. M	ethodology	9		
2.1.	The household's electricity profiles	10		
2.2.	PV electricity supply	10		
2.3.	Statistical approach for sampling	11		
2.4.	Randomized combinations	12		
2.5.	Electricity Balance	13		
2.6.	Electricity Trading	14		
2.7.	Initial data settings for LCC	18		
2.8.	Sensitivity analysis	19		
2.9.	LCC calculation	20		
2.10.	Profitability	20		
3. Re	esults	21		
3.1.	Electricity use distribution	21		
3.2.	PV supply	21		
3.3.	Electricity balance	22		
3.4.	Profitability and payback period	23		
3.5.	Sensitivity analysis: tax reduction	27		
4. Discussion				
5. Conclusion				
6. References				

## 1. Introduction

The United Nations' seventh sustainable development goal describes several targets regarding clean energy, including the increase of the renewable energy share in the global energy mix. The Swedish government's goal is that 100 % of the country's electricity will come from renewable sources by 2040 (Zhong, Bollen, and Onnberg 2021). According to the official Statistic Database (SCB 2022b), Sweden's energy mix is mainly composed by hydro (43 %) and nuclear power (31 %). However, the recent decommissioning of nuclear energy opened space to increase the share of wind and solar power (Kan, Hedenus, and Reichenberg 2020). A strategy proposed by the Swedish Energy Agency was to increase the share of solar power to 10 % by 2040 (Swedish Energy Agency 2016).

Within solar power technology, the use of photovoltaic (PV) cells has been rapidly growing in Sweden since 2006. According to collected data by the National Survey of PV Power, Sweden went from 300 kW of PV capacity installed that year to nearly 1090 MW in 2020 (IEA - PVPS 2020). To increase the number of PV system users, the Swedish government has implemented support policies. Subsidies were provided to consumers to reduce the installation costs to help consumers with initial investment. Also, consumers would benefit from taxes reduction for selling the electricity surplus back to the grid (Palm, Eidenskog, and Luthander 2017).

This depicts how popular PV systems are becoming in the Swedish market. More homeowners are willing to invest in PV panels for a variety of reasons, including environmental concerns and mostly recently profitability (Palm 2018). In Sweden, retail electricity costs are still higher than the costs for self-produced electricity. Therefore, the use of self-produced electricity reduces the amount of purchased electricity, increasing the user's profitability (Luthander et al. 2015).

In several studies, (Luthander et al. 2015), (Bertsch, Geldermann, and Lühn 2017), (Radl et al. 2020), (Liu et al. 2017), the percentage of PV electricity that is used is referred as "self-use". It is calculated by dividing the used PV electricity by the total electricity production. A higher self-use increases the financial benefits for PV system users; however, their electricity use is far from being entirely covered by production.

The reality is, the users are mostly in need of electricity, when there is no natural source of light. Therefore, there is more electricity and heating being used during the winter. However, due to the shorter days, the PV production in winter season in Scandinavian countries is consequently low. Also, many households use electricity for electric appliances and lighting overnight when PV electricity production is zero. As a consequence, all that eventually leads to the mismatch of production and use in several periods.

The electricity use and production mismatch not only restrain financial gains for PV owners but also affects the electric grid's supply and demand balance. The consequences of supply and demand imbalance during the peak demand become crucial when lead to a high risk of electricity outage, creating additional challenges for electricity companies (Peng et al. 2020). Correspondingly, peak demand has an influence on selling and buying electricity prices and, in turn, it negatively affects PV owners (Carli et al. 2020). Despite on net-metering type, high demand causes significant increase of buying prices during high demand and reduction of the price for selling surplus electricity during production in low demand.

Hence, to ensure efficient grid operation, electricity supply and demand must be well-balanced (Lamnatou, Chemisana, and Cristofari 2022) The absolute balance can theoretically be attained by producing enough electricity during the peak hours while reducing overproduction. By increasing self-use, it allows users to make better use of their PV system. Nevertheless, this approach is hard to apply in reality without use of electricity storage. The main reasons are high load variations according to individual user behaviours and weather conditions. It becomes hard to predict situations considering those variables (Chaudhary and Rizwan 2018).

Other European countries addressed the grid's imbalance issue with a concept known as Smart Grid (Zhang et al. 2014). Basically, users started to apply electricity management technologies consisting of metering devices and sensors to circulate electricity use information between utility company and the users. As a result, it assisted utility companies in balancing electricity supply and demand, as well as users in\_reducing their electricity costs (Farhangi 2010).

Within the Smart Grid context, microgrids and energy communities' concepts were created. In simple terms, electricity consumers locally producing renewable energy, who were usually referred to as "prosumers", form a community to share PV electricity production (Mengelkamp et al. 2018). By aggregating the prosumers electricity demand, it allowed them as a community to use more self-produced electricity and rely less on grid's electricity (Reis et al. 2019).

The temporal difference of the combined electricity demands reduces the number of hours when PV electricity is not being used (Radl et al. 2020) (Reis et al. 2019). Given that, recent research on PV system sharing has been developing models to prove its applicability in real cases. These models treat an energy community as a trading zone. Basically, prosumers trade their electricity surplus with other prosumers in electricity shortage. To do so, these models count with an entity, known as aggregator, or Energy Sharing Provider (ESP) (Liu et al. 2018). This entity (e.g., third party company) intermediates the electricity trading between prosumers themselves and the utility grid. By being impartial, the aggregators can balance electricity supply and demand within a prosumers' community (Liu et al. 2017).

Previous research presented the advantages of sharing PV systems in a community when compared to individually owned PV systems. However, there is scant research about the increasing financial benefits of different communities' scales. Moreover, it is still lacking investigation about optimal PV system size when sharing within larger communities. These outputs can enhance PV dissemination in the market and policies' changes. The findings become important for a country with ambitious goals for renewable energy and decarbonization like Sweden.

#### **1.1.** State-of-the-art

As mentioned, previous studies analyzed investigated the possible benefits of shared PV systems. The literature review presented below gives a short description of those studies and shows the diversity in terms of methodology. While the results portrayed the financial improvements when sharing PV systems.

(Fina, Auer, and Friedl 2019) investigated the profitability of a community with shared PV systems. The study's case consisted of real measured electricity load profiles of few different settlements (Single-family houses, multi-apartment buildings, historical buildings, and commercial facilities). The settlements not only had different electricity-providing sources, but also roof top spaces and constrains for PV panels installation. The study determined the efficiency of an electricity sharing community for each type of settlement. Single-family houses profited more from the synergy of different load profiles and multi-apartment buildings presented the highest cost reduction within the settlement types.

Research made in Portugal (Ramos et al. 2021), where PV sharing is regulated, emphasizes the benefits of PV sharing, specially regards increasing self-use. It also explores different models of energy communities to share PV electricity. The proposed model in the paper consisted of an apartment building sharing PV electricity with the assistance of an energy aggregator to manage the distribution of electricity. The analysis considered the use of batteries to store part of the electricity not being utilized.

Moreover, (Reis et al. 2019) provides a study about load aggregation using electricity use data of 18 households and three small shops in Portugal. It revealed an improvement of self-use between 50 % and 80 % by just aggregating 10 households' loads and using a 1 kWh/kWp battery. Additionally, a 90 % self-use increase was reported when considering the small shops in the load aggregation. The study depicts the increase of self-use and profitability in relation to individually owned PV systems.

(Radl et al. 2020) compared eight countries (Austria, Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France, Italy, Spain, and Portugal) in terms of cost reduction when forming an energy community where PV electricity is sharable. In the study, two scenarios were analyzed. The first one included carbon-based society, where energy for producing heat and operating transportation were provided by fossil-fuels. The second one represented a full-electric scenario which considered the use of heat pumps to provide heat and electric-vehicles as the main transportation. This last scenario presented higher electricity use tough. Using simulated load profiles, the results presented energy costs reduction for all countries when implementing PV system, and even higher costs reduction when sharing PV systems. With high electricity prices in countries like Germany, Belgium, and Netherlands, PV system's sharing becomes even more profitable through increased self-use of PV electricity.

(Liu et al. 2018) proposed three different models for peer-to-peer (P2P) electricity trading in a microgrid using PV electricity. The models, so called bill-sharing, Mid-market rate, and action-based pricing, were composed of different pricing rules for trading electricity. The study shows that it was possible to reduce electricity costs up to 30 % using any of the proposed P2P electricity trading models, and the main driver for such reduction was the diversity of load schedules. Also, the study concluded that the use of P2P electricity trading can be used for residential microgrids in large scale.

Within the same topic (Liu et al. 2016) and (Liu et al. 2017), proposed models of PV sharing integrated with Demand-Side Management, a Smart Grid approach to manage electricity demand. The microgrids worked as electricity trading zones with internal electricity prices. These internal prices could change according to the electricity supply and demand ratio of the microgrid. Both presented models that resulted in positive revenue when compared with direct electricity trading between PV prosumers and utility grid.

#### **1.2.** Electricity regulations in Sweden

To ensure the smooth integration of shared PV systems, many performed studies were discovered that offer reassessment and adjustment of legislation regarding smart grid systems according to Swedish regulations.

As follows, one problem was found is no legal support for sharing PV system between multiple households in Sweden. Which according to (Parks and Wallsten 2020), is caused by two factors: taxes and rental laws. In regard to current regulations, allowing PV owners sharing electricity with neighbors could require changes in regulations for taxation. According to the current regulations, electricity tax must be paid by everyone using electricity from the main grid. In the case of shared PV systems, it would create additional complications regarding electricity tax because prosumers would be using electricity from another household in their community and the main grid.

The similar issue arises if calculating electricity certificate fee for each user that is a part of shared PV system community. The existing electricity certificates create an additional financial benefit for individuals who decide to make decisions towards green electricity production, as they can measure their production and then sell their certificates to electricity trading companies. Subsequently, electricity certificates are then being sold to electricity companies who are subject to quota obligations due to their production of unclean electricity. The cost paid for those certificates is then blended as a fee in users' electricity bill. In case of shared PV systems, due to lack of legal ability to track certain type of electricity use, it becomes questionable, whether some individual users must pay the electricity certificate fee or not. According to (Lisberg Jensen Malte von Utfall Danielsson Carl 2017), the only solution to solve this issue at the current stage is to stop selling electricity certificates to PV owners or if municipalities would buy it instead. However, neither electricity companies nor the city government had planned to make such a significant financial contribution to support electricity sharing.

Finally, sharing PV electricity could conflict with rental laws, as present situation states, private house renters have the right to choose their electricity supplier. Meaning that shared PV systems could not be legally applied to rented housing units (Energimarknadsbyran 2016).

Another problem reveals the lack of incentive from the government since existing regulations provides no financial support to electricity network companies and PV owners regarding smart-grid systems (Lisberg Jensen Malte von Utfall Danielsson Carl 2017). Therefore, introduction of policies that would strengthen incentives are required for successful integration. The possible improvement to reinforce the incentives was proposed by the author: implementing dialogue-based regulation between electricity network companies and the authorities.

The suggestion represents a dialogue-based regulation that calls for more active cooperation of governmental authorities and electricity network companies.- According to (Lisberg Jensen Malte von Utfall Danielsson Carl 2017), there must be a place for more open communication processes where two parties discuss and agree on objectives for network operation. Also, electricity companies can develop their own proposals for how the goals proposed by the authorities could be achieved. Indeed, such an approach would need strong cooperation from both parties (electricity companies and authorities), but it provides a number of benefits such as greater freedom to plan achievement of different goals and therefore invest into innovative technical solutions.

#### **1.3.** Aim & objectives

The main goal of this research is to demonstrate the profitability of shared PV systems. As study was divided into two parts, the first objective was to calculate electricity balance and trading for each randomized combination of electricity use profiles. The second part was focused on determining Life Cycle Costs for households and comparing themselves in different situations: when sharing a PV system, own PV system individually and without any PV system.

The results, methods and approaches provided in this study could be used to evaluate the potential profitability for various combined electricity use profiles at international level.

#### 1.4. Limitations

Despite there are many building types such as commercial, residential, or educational, the current study was fully focused on residential apartment buildings, as pre-measured data represents individual apartment blocks. In addition, it is worth to note that only PV systems without battery/storage system were considered in this research.

The current work accounts for certain degree of uncertainty due to the assumptions such as weather forecasts and user-dependency of the electricity use profiles that were initially used. Additionally, due to limitations of program used for main calculations, the number of combinations and samples for larger communities were reduced. Even though this could represent a small decrease in the results accuracy, it did not change the main behaviour of the results.

PV electricity supply was simulated assuming PV modules with tilt and azimuth of, respectively,  $20^{\circ}$  and  $180^{\circ}$ , in both Swedish locations: Karlstad and Kiruna. Although, those values could be optimized to reach a slightly higher PV electricity supply. All in all, the values were kept the same in the simulations for both locations. Together with that, the PV models' depreciation was not accounted.

#### 1.5. Hypothesis

Two hypotheses for the current study were formulated and presented such as:

- 1. Sharing PV systems' electricity is significantly more profitable when compared to the individually owned PV systems.
- 2. By increasing the size of community with shared PV systems, the profitability of participating households is growing.

## 2. Methodology

The following methodology section presents a detailed step-by-step of the entire process needed to calculate profitability of shared PV systems (Figure 1). Using Visual Basic Applications (VBA) in MS Excel, randomized combinations from a database of 1 067 households were created. The profiles come from real measurements made in previous research (Bagge, Lindstrii, and Johansson 2012). A more detailed description of the profiles was given in section 2.1.

The household electricity profiles in each combination were further matched with simulated PV supply for multiple PV systems with different sizes using SAM software (NREL 2022). The locations chosen for those simulations: Karlstad and Kiruna. The reason behind the location's choice was described in Section PV electricity 2.2.

Further, based on the electricity balance calculations (section 2.5), an electricity trading scheme was applied to calculate exchange of electricity among prosumers and their electricity costs (section 2.6). LCC was then calculated for each household sharing PV system within a community. LCC was also calculated for the same households when owning a PV system without sharing and without a PV system. The LCCs were then compared to determine the profitability in different situations (sharing, not sharing, and without PV system).

Finally, average profitability and payback for different sized communities and different PV systems were displayed in the results section. The sensitivity analysis was performed for a different electricity price growth rate and the inclusion of tax reduction for individually owned PV systems. In addition, to observe the impact of the weather, the results for Karlstad were compared results for with Kiruna.



Figure 1 - Methogolody chart.

#### 2.1. The household's electricity profiles

The data used for the current study consisted of pre-measured household electricity use profiles for individual households by (Bagge, Lindstrii, and Johansson 2012) that were presented and analysed as a part of previously performed research (Fransson 2020). The measurements of electricity and domestic hot water had been collected during the year of 2012 from 1 509 apartments of different sizes in several buildings in Karlstad. However, the gathered data needed to be studied and verified. During inspection, several errors and strange patterns were detected such as profiles with more than 3 % of missing data or other anomalies like very high averages or inexplicable spikes (Fransson 2020) Therefore, according to (Fransson 2020), a part of the measured profiles needed to be discarded. Finally, only 1 067 profiles that passed 3 % missing data limit and visual inspection were verified and therefore included into the initial dataset of the current work.

According to (SCB 2022b), the population of Karlstad municipality is demographically-representative of Sweden. The measured data was sorted by apartment sizes in  $m^2$  and number of rooms, between 1 and 4. Approximately 75 % of the apartments contained two or three rooms and the kitchen, the rest of 25 % belongs mainly to 5-rooms apartments with the kitchen, with just a few 6-rooms apartments. The household electricity usage included electricity for light, electrical appliances, and equipment, along with electric towel rails in the bathrooms. In addition, all households had access to shared laundry room in the building or neighbourhood.

The results demonstrated that the general usage of electricity was higher on Saturdays and Sundays when most people are typically free from work or university and are expected to be present at home more hours than on weekdays. However, the large spread in measured electricity uses and indoor temperature in different apartments was found, where high usage occurred in relatively few apartments. One of the conclusions of the study was the average use of household electricity increases both with increased apartment area and number of rooms. However, weak relationships were noticed while closely comparing same size apartments, since there were significant differences in usage. It is mainly explained by strong relation to different user-behaviours that are fully impacted by habits and values of individuals. Authors that measured data (Bagge, Lindstrii, and Johansson 2012) concluded that there was no correlation between received household electricity profiles and apartment sizes was considered in the current research, nor further conclusions were made basing on the area of the households, as the usage of electricity was previously proved to be related to individual human behaviours.

#### 2.2. PV electricity supply

In this study, the System Model Advisor program (NREL 2022) was used to simulate hourly supply of PV electricity for a whole year. Karlstad's weather data was chosen to correspond with the location of the households that had their electricity use measured. However, solar radiation varies considerably in different regions of Sweden. In the South, radiation can reach a maximum of 1 050 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>, meanwhile in the North, radiation can go as low as 750 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> (SMHI 2017).

To demonstrate the impact of weather on the PV system's profitability, electricity supply was also simulated for another location representing the north of Sweden. Thus, Kiruna' weather data was chosen for this purpose. In section 3.2, results of electricity supply with the same PV system in three different locations in Sweden were shown.

In this study, the assumption was that all households within a community had the same PV system size, and they decide to share their electricity surplus within the community. Hence the term "shared PV systems" in this paper. Initially, the supply of several PV system sizes was simulated and combined with every single household electricity profile. All combinations were then evaluated based on the amount of electricity demand covered by electricity supply and the system's costs. In the end, four sizes (0.25 kWp, 0.5 kWp, 0.75 kWp, and 1 kWp) with the best results were chosen to be applied for each household of the combinations. The configuration for PV systems were modules with 20 % efficiency. The modules were tilted in an angle of 20 ° and with azimuth of 180 ° to maximize supply in summer in Karlstad. Although this system configuration could be optimized for Kiruna, the values were kept the same in both locations since the aim was to compare results with different weather only.

#### 2.3. Statistical approach for sampling

In this study, household electricity profiles were combined using random selection. Different combination sizes were made regarding the number of households being combined (e.g., 2, 5, 10 households). For each combination size, the term "population" refers to all possible combinations that can be made with the 1 067 household electricity profiles and the term "sample" refers to a single combination. The total number of combinations that can be possibly created is extremely large. Thus, it becomes unviable to analyse distribution or variability of the whole population, due to lack of time and/or computational resources. It is more reasonable to employ sampling than census, which involves analysing the entire population and is more suitable for small groups (Israel 1992b).

A statistical theory called probability sampling was used to determine the number of samples needed for the analysis. It means that every combination in the population, has a non-zero chance of being selected (Israel 1992a), thus, the sample is completely aleatory.

However, this brings the issue of choosing a sample size large enough to represent the whole population statistical characteristic. Statistical formulas were developed to determine the sample size for large populations (Israel 1992a). One of these formulas is denominated Yamane formula (1), in which a desired margin of error is used to decide the number of samples, considering that the population standard deviation is unknown.

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N \cdot e^2} \tag{1}$$

In equation (1), the number of samples is symbolized by "n", the population by "N" and "e" represents the desired margin of error. As it shows in Figure 2, for larger populations, the equation result is mainly influenced by the chosen margin of error, and it does not change from 400 samples. Keeping in mind that two electricity profiles are the bare minimum that can be combined, and the idea that repeated selection is allowed, i.e., selecting a repeated electricity profile in the same combination, there are more than 8 000 possible combinations. Hence, 400 samples were chosen to suit the study's time and computational limitations



Figure 2 – Correlation of number of samples and population size using Yamane's equation with three different margins of error (0.03, 0.05, 0.1).

#### 2.4. Randomized combinations

The random selection method was used to create the household combinations (Figure 3). The combinations were performed using VBA-coding application in MS Excel.

The number of combined households was determined through a quick manual trial-and-error process. According to previously presented hypotheses, it was expected to obtain results that demonstrate an increase in profitability as the number of households in the combinations increased. The trendlines for multiple different number of combined households were evaluated and numbers of combined households that appeared to be the most suitable for analyses were selected. It was crucial to detect the change between different sizes of combinations while still being able to observe the clear trend between the results. The process started with the smallest combination of 2 households and the number was further increased, according to the results from previous combination. Finally, the combination sizes were set to be for 2, 5, 10, 20 and 50 households.

All household profiles from the initial database were included in a randomization process. By using a random selection function, the necessary number of participants was grouped into one combination by randomly selecting profiles from the available database of 1 067 electricity use profiles (Figure 3). The total population of profiles was considered for selection in every independent run of the randomisation process, so previously selected profiles were free to be selected for multiple runs. Randomization was finalised by creating a database with all created combinations.



Figure 3 - Process of randomization using VBA-coding application in Excel. Example for building combinations, i.e., samples of 2 households.

#### 2.5. Electricity Balance

Figure 4 shows an example of hourly household electricity together with PV electricity supplied along 24 hours in a day. From the chart, it can be observed two curves: the household electricity uses and PV electricity supply, in which the hourly difference between these curves is called Electricity Balance (EB).



Figure 4 – Household electricity use and supply of a household. The curves difference represents bought and sold electricity.

In each hour (t), the electricity balance, denoted by EB(t), was calculated for an individual household referred as *n* using equation (2). The supplied PV electricity was considered as P(t) and the used household electricity as E(t). When the equation result is negative (-), it depicts electricity that needs to be bought import ( $E_b$ ) (equation 3). When the result is positive (+), it depicts surplus of electricity that could be sold ( $E_s$ ) (equation 4). Moreover, if the result is equal to zero, it means that the PV electricity supply matched the electricity use.

$$EB_n(t) = P_n(t) - E_n(t) \tag{2}$$

$$E_{bn}(t) = \begin{cases} -EB_n(t), & EB_n < 0\\ 0, & EB_n \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(3)

$$E_{sn}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & EB_n \le 0\\ EB_n(t), & EB_n > 0 \end{cases}$$
(4)

Every single household from the 1 067 was coupled with a PV system. This was done for the PV systems of size 0.25 kWp, 0.5 kWp, 0.75 kWp and 1 kWp. Last and most importantly, the electricity balance was calculated for all 8 760 hours of the year for each household with the previously mentioned PV systems.

#### 2.5.1. Sold electricity to the main grid

To observe the change in self-use in combinations of different sizes, an average sold electricity to the main grid for an individual household was calculated. The calculations were performed for 0.5 kWp PV system. By applying the method presented previously, hourly electricity balance of each household that participate in the combination was calculated individually. Furthermore, using this data, the total sum of sold ( $E^{group}_{s}(t)$ ) and bought ( $E^{group}_{b}(t)$ ) electricity from all individual households participating in each combination was found for each hour (t), using equations 5 and 6.

$$E^{group}_{s}(t) = E_{s1}(t) + E_{s2}(t) + \dots + E_{sN}(t)$$
(5)

$$E^{group}{}_{b}(t) = E_{b1}(t) + E_{b2}(t) + \dots + E_{bN}(t)$$
(6)

where,

N – corresponding number of every household in the combination who needs to sell or buy electricity  $E_{sN}(t)$  – the amount of electricity that a household can sell in certain hour  $E_{bN}(t)$  – the amount of electricity that a household needs to buy in certain hour

To calculate the total hourly amount of sold electricity to the main grid as the community  $(E^{group}_{s grid})$ , the equation 7 was applied:

$$E^{group}_{s arid}(t) = E^{group}_{s}(t) - E^{group}_{b}(t)$$
(7)

The sold electricity to the main grid per individual household was further calculated by extracting an average from all samples for a certain combination size.

#### 2.6. Electricity Trading

Households sharing PV systems can have financial advantages when trading electricity with each other. Trading can not only reduce their costs of purchased electricity, but it can also increase their profits for sold electricity. Figure 5 and Figure show, respectively, examples of households purchased electricity costs and sold electricity gains when trading electricity with other households.

Households in electricity shortage can buy electricity surplus from other households. This electricity is bought at a lower price than that offered by electricity companies. Thus, households can reduce their electricity costs when trading. Figure 5 shows an example of it, where the solid blue line represents the amount of electricity traded between households in that time of the day. The dashed orange line represents the electricity cost of one the households when it is not trading electricity with other households, meanwhile the dashed blue line represents the electricity cost of the same household when trading electricity with other households.



Figure 5 - A household's hourly costs of purchased electricity. The cost reduces when trading electricity with another household. Tax reduction was not included.

On the other hand, households with electricity surplus can offer it to other households at higher prices than those offered by electricity companies. As a result, their profits from selling electricity increase when they trade, as it is shown in Figure 6.



*Figure 6 - A household's hourly profit from sold electricity. The profit increases when trading electricity with another household. Tax reduction was not included.* 

A price model proposed by (Long et al. 2018), so called Mid-Market rate, was used to calculate the electricity costs for an individual household, referred as n, when trading electricity within a community. Considering the electricity user's perspective, three prices were considered in the model's calculation: the price to buy electricity from the electricity grid ( $Pr_{bg}$ ), to sell electricity to the electricity grid ( $Pr_{sg}$ ) and the price of buying or selling electricity from and to other households ( $Pr_c$ ). In the model,  $Pr_c$  is assumed as the average of  $Pr_{bg}$  and  $Pr_{sg}$ . Figure 7 shows the price scheme with an example of a three-household community trading electricity.



Figure 7 - Example of electricity trading between three-household community and the main electricity grid.

A community's electricity offer and demand means, respectively, the total amount of electricity surplus and electricity that must be purchased considering all the households in the community. In different hours, the offer and demand for electricity within a community can vary. If the community's electricity offer matches its demand, all the electricity can be traded amongst households at the trading price ( $Pr_c$ ). However, when the offer is higher than demand, the whole amount of electricity surplus cannot be traded amongst households. Some part must be sold to the grid at the grid's price (Figure 8). The same happens for the purchased electricity in the opposite situation when demand is higher than the offer. Part of the electricity will be purchased from other households, while part will be purchased from the grid (Figure 9).



Figure 8 - Example of electricity pricing in a community of households when offer is higher than demand.



Figure 9 - Example of electricity pricing in a community of households when demand is higher than offer.

Therefore, the price that homeowners would have to pay for electricity, referred as  $Pr_{b_i}$  or sell their electricity surplus, referred as  $Pr_{s_i}$  would depend on the electricity offer and demand at that moment.

At a certain hour *t*, if the community's electricity offer and demand are equal, then  $Pr_b$  and  $Pr_s$  are equal to  $Pr_c$  as it is shown in equation 8.

$$Pr_b(t) = Pr_s(t) = Pr_c(t) \tag{8}$$

If the electricity offer is higher than demand, then  $Pr_b$  is equal to  $Pr_c$  (equation 9). Whereas  $Pr_s$  is a proportion of  $Pr_c$  and Prsg, as it is shown in equation 10, where N is the total number of households in the community.

$$Pr_b(t) = Pr_c \tag{9}$$

$$Pr_{s}(t) = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{bn}(t) \times Pr_{c} + (\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{sn}(t) - \sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{bn}(t)) \times Pr_{sg}}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{sn}(t)}$$
(10)

If the electricity demand is higher than the offer, then  $Pr_s$  equal to  $Pr_c$  (equation 11). While  $Pr_b$  is a proportion of  $Pr_c$  and  $Pr_{bg}$ , as it is shown in equation 12, where N is the total number of households in the community.

$$Pr_s(t) = Pr_c \tag{11}$$

$$Pr_{b}(t) = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{sn}(t) \times Pr_{c} + \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{bn}(t) - \sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{sn}(t)\right) \times Pr_{bg}}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} E_{bn}(t)}$$
(12)

Finally, having determined the real prices to buy and sell electricity, the hourly electricity cost, EC(t), for a household *n*, was calculated as in equation 13.

$$EC_n(t) = \begin{cases} E_{bn}(t) \times Pr_b & EB_n < 0\\ -E_{sn}(t) \times Pr_s & EB_n > 0 \end{cases}$$
(13)

An example of how electricity cost is calculated for each household in a three-household community is shown in Table 1 and Table 2. Table 1 displays the example of electricity cost calculation when electricity offer is higher than demand. Household 1 purchased electricity from the other two households at 1.5 SEK / kW, which resulted in 3 SEK of cost for its electricity. Meanwhile, household 2 and 3 had to share proportionally the electricity being sold to Household 1, shown as A, and the electricity being sold to the grid, shown as B. As a result, household 2 and 3 had, respectively, 4.4 SEK and 6.6 SEK of profit with sold electricity.

Table 1 - Example of electricity cost calculation in a three-household community when electricity offer is higher than demand.

	Electricity purchased E <sub>b</sub> / kW	Electricity surplus E <sub>s</sub> / kW	Selling or buying price amongst households <i>Pr<sub>c</sub></i> / (SEK / kW)	Price to sell to the grid Pr <sub>sg</sub> / (SEK / kW)	Electricity Cost EC / SEK		
Household 1	2	0	1.5	1	$2 \times 1.5 = 3$		
Household 2	0	4	1.5	1	$-\frac{4}{10} \times 2 \times 1.5 + (10 - 2) \times 1 = -4.4$		
Household 3	0	6	1.5	1	$A = B$ $-\frac{6}{10} \times 2 \times 1.5 + (10 - 2) \times 1 = -6.6$		
Total	2	10	1.5	1	$2 \times 1.5 + (10 - 2) \times 1 = 11$		
$Pr_{s}(t) = \frac{A}{\left[\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{bn}(t) \times Pr_{c} + \left(\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{sn}(t) - \sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{bn}(t)\right) \times Pr_{sg}\right]}{\left[\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{sn}(t)\right]}$							

In Table 2 displayed an example of electricity cost calculation when electricity demand is higher than offer. Household 1 sold electricity to the other two households at 1.5 SEK / kW, which resulted in 1.5 SEK of profit for its electricity. Meanwhile, household 2 and 3 had to share proportionally the electricity purchased from household 1, shown as A, and the electricity purchased from the grid, shown as B. As a result, household 2 and 3 had an approximate electricity cost of, respectively, 1.8 SEK and 3.7 SEK.

Table 2 - Example of electricity cost calculation in a three-household community when electricity demand is higher than offer.

	Electricity purchased E <sub>b</sub> / kW	Electricity surplus E <sub>s</sub> / kW	Selling or buying price amongst households <i>Pr<sub>c</sub></i> / (SEK / kW)	Price to buy from the grid Pr <sub>bg</sub> / (SEK / kW)	Electricity Cost EC / SEK		
Household 1	0	1	1.5	2	$-1 \times 1.5 = -1.5$		
Household 2	2	0	1.5	2	$\frac{2}{6} \times 1 \times 1.5 + (4 - 2) \times 2 \cong 1.8$		
Household 3	4	0	1.5	2	$\frac{4}{6} \times 15 + (4 - 2) \times 2 \cong 3.7$		
Total	6	1	1.5	2	$1 \times 1.5 + (4 - 2) \times 2 = 5.5$		
$Pr_{b}(t) = \frac{A}{\left[\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{sn}(t) \times Pr_{c}\right] + \left[\left(\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{bn}(t) - \sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{sn}(t)\right) \times Pr_{bg}\right]}{\left[\sum_{n=1}^{3} E_{bn}(t)\right]}$							

#### 2.7. Initial data settings for LCC

Further, the financial assessment was carried out to monetize expenses and income for households that participated in combinations, in each case. Life Cycle Costs calculations were performed for a period of 40 years. The scope of analysis included initial investment, maintenance, and electricity costs.

Initial investment costs covered installation expenses and the cost of inverter, meter, and PV system (Table 3). The prices were based on the market situation, according to (IEA - PVPS 2020). The maintenance costs included the prices for changing inverters and PV modules. The maintenance period for inverter was set to be 10 years, and for the PV modules was 25 years. The initial and maintenance costs were calculated individually for each household considering a size of their PV system, either they are a part of the community or not. It means that in case of shared PV systems, the initial and maintenance costs were not shared between participants.

Table 3 - Investment and maintenance costs.

	Life Cycle Costs	TOTAL Costs / (SEK / kWp)
	PV systems installation	
<b>T</b> •/• <b>T</b>	PV system costs	16.000
Initial costs	Inverter	16 090
	Meter	
Maintananaa	Inverter change	2 040
wrantenance	PV modules change	3 170

Electricity costs included running costs for bought electricity and already accounted the gains with sold electricity. The cost of bought electricity had multiple choices for scenario development. Between 2019-2020, Swedish electricity market went through many changes that affected electricity prices, if compared to the past years. Since 2020, along with increase of electricity prices, a significant difference in prices between north and southern regions in Sweden could now be seen. It was mainly caused by shutting down nuclear power stations in Southern Sweden, while renewable power stations in the North remained operating (Lithner 2021). As followed, longer electricity transportation distances from North to South contributed to high competition in prices. Also, most of the municipalities in the North are currently paying reduced electricity tax, as northern regions supply and use more renewable electricity (Skatteverket 2022a).

Therefore, it was decided use hourly spot prices from 2019, since the similar prices between north and south of Sweden allowed to analyse impact of the weather on the results. What is more, it reflected the further distribution of renewable electricity sources as an alternative to help reaching governmental goal to decommission all nuclear power stations in the country by 2045 (IEA 2019). Since the Swedish government is trying to extend alternative power sources, it is assumed that more wind, hydro- and, in particular, solar power installations would be built in the next years. As an example, in 2019 Vattenfall government-owned electricity company set a goal to upgrade their hydropower stations and increase capacity by 600 megawatts by 2023 (Vattenfall 2020). Upgrading and implementing additional electricity sources, not only contributes to decrease the electricity price difference between regions but to potentially reduce the average electricity price in Sweden.

The spot price was given hourly (Nord Pool 2022) In addition, all trading and network fees were calculated and added hourly based on the current costs from the biggest electricity providers in each region. It is worth to note, that only variable electricity contract was considered, as it allowed for more transparent data from electricity providers (Table 4). In order to make assumptions of growth rates for upcoming years, the average of electricity trading and network prices per region were calculated, based on data from past years (2016-2020) (Energimarknadsbyran 2022). The prices for sold electricity was identical to hourly spot price according to the chosen year. As it was mentioned before, the chosen scenario of 2019 implied even prices in both regions.

Electricity zone	Electricity provider	Type of trading/network fees included	Electricity price Scenario 2019	Price Growth rate
SE 1 (KIRUNA)		Fixed	0.0205 (SEK/hour)	20/
SE 3 (KARLSTAD)	Vattenfall*	Variable	0.31 (SEK/kWh)	2%

Table 4. Inputs of hourly electricity prices and growth rates, according to price scenario of 2019.

\*Vattenfall: https://www.vattenfall.se/foretag/kundservice/amne/faktura-och-betalning/fakturaforklaring/

\*Energimarknadsinspektionen: https://www.ei.se/sv/statistik/statistik-inom-omradet-el/Statistik-om-elhandel/historiska-jamforpriser-pa-elhandelsavtal/ \* All prices include VAT 25%

In the current tax system of Sweden, the subsidies for PV ownership are an important tool to create awareness of the potential and value of PV systems (IEA - PVPS 2020). However, it was hard to make predictions over the years since tax reduction rules could change over time according to governmental goals (IEA - PVPS 2020). Therefore, the LCC calculations initially excluded tax reduction, to keep results more independent from further governmental decisions about subsidies. However, the current tax reduction measures were further included in sensitivity analysis.

In addition, the option for selling electricity certificates was not considered in this study. Current average price on the market (SolarSvea 2022) for 1 MWh sold electricity is 0.1 SEK/MWh. Besides that, the annual membership fee of 200 SEK/year must be paid by every micro-producer.

The interest rate was calculated based on the data from previous years (2016-2019), before the corona pandemic had a significant impact on the inflation. According to the statistical database from (SCB 2022b), the interest rate, based on years 2016-2019, in Sweden was 1.9 %. The maintenance cost growth rate was assumed to be 2 %, based on the consumer price index (CPI) from previous years (SCB 2022a).

#### 2.8. Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis for LCC was performed, to observe the impact of different scenarios. The first change was made to the electricity price growth rate. It was interesting to observe change with a slight increase to 3 % (SCB 2022b), assuming scenario where electricity become more expensive. Another change included a tax reduction that was applied to individual PV owners, while comparing them to the situation when they share PV system and do not account for tax reduction. According to current situation in Sweden, PV micro producers that produce a maximum of 43.5 kW while sell less electricity than they consume from the main grid, are accounted

for a tax reduction of 0.6 SEK/kWh, that is added on the top of their income from selling surplus electricity to the main grid (Skatteverket 2022b). Other tax reduction measures as ROT deduction and tax reduction for Green Technology were excluded from calculations in this study.

#### 2.9. LCC calculation

For a household, referred as *n*, the LCC was calculated considering the PV system investment cost ( $C_{inv}$ ), the system's maintenance ( $C_{main}$ ) and the annually bought electricity ( $C_{el.bought}$ ). The annual bought electricity cost was determined by just summing the electricity costs of all 8 760 hours, as it is shown in equation 14. Hence, by considering a certain number of years (Y) and using an interest rate (i), an electricity price growth rate (g) and a maintenance cost growth rate (m), the net present value (NPV) for the cashflows  $C_{main}$  and  $C_{el.bought}$  can be calculated as it shown in equations 15 and 16. Finally, the LCC was the sum of the investment cost and the NPV for maintenance and bought electricity cost as it is shown in equation 17.

$$C_{el.bought n} = \sum_{t=0}^{8760} EC_n(t)$$
(14)

$$NPV_{main\,n} = C_{main\,n} \times (1+m) \times \frac{(1-(1+m)^{Y} \times (1+i)^{Y})}{i-m}$$
(15)

$$NPV_{el.bought\,n} = C_{el.bought\,n} \times (1+g) \times \frac{(1-(1+g)^Y \times (1+i)^Y)}{i-g} \tag{16}$$

$$LCC_n = C_{inv n} + NPV_{main n} + NPV_{el.bought n}$$
(17)

#### 2.10. **Profitability**

To evaluate the financial advantages of having a PV system individually or sharing it as a part of the community, the profitability was calculated.

The profitability is defined to be a profit that was received when the time to recover investment was shorter than the project's lifespan. The calculation method was applied to compare different scenarios and draw the difference between single households that were a part of shared PV community, own PV individually without sharing, or not using PV at all. It was implemented through the formula that extracts the difference between LCC costs and therefore validates the potential savings of choosing one scenario over another, as it was presented in the equation 18.

$$Profitability = LCC_{withPV} - LCC_{noPV}$$
(18)

where,

 $LCC_{indiv.}$  – Life Cycle Costs for a single household who own a PV system  $LCC_{noPV}$  – Life Cycle Costs for single households, who do not own a PV

To establish the common ground, LCC for a case with no PV system  $(LCC_{noPV})$  was chosen. It was further compared either with LCC  $(LCC_{withPV})$  of household owning PV and share it in the community or owning PV individually. As a result, using the same formula, two types of profitability were extracted: for cases where households share their PV with others or own PV systems individually.

Approaching the final step, the two types of profitability were visually compared to each other to get to the insights on how much more profitable PV sharing was over individually PV usage.

### 3. Results

This section presents the results as the average profitability and payback of all households participating in the 400 samples. In the following graphs, shared PV systems between 2, 5, 10, 20 and 50 households were, respectively, represented by the terms 2H, 5H, 10H, 20H and 50H. While individually owned systems were referred as 1H. All results were analysed in both Karlstad and Kiruna weathers.

The results first showed a short analysis of the electricity use profiles distribution in terms of annual electricity use. Afterwards, PV electricity supply in three different Swedish towns and electricity use of an average Swedish household combined with PV electricity supply. Later, profitability after 40 years and payback period were presented. In the graphs, the average household profitability was compared between the cases of individually owning a PV system and sharing PV systems with different number of households. The profitability was also analysed for four different PV systems sizes where the results were compared in two scenarios of electricity price growth rate: 2 % and 3 %. In the end, tax reduction was implemented for the cases with individually owned PV systems and compared to the cases without tax reduction.

#### **3.1.** Electricity use distribution

The annual electricity use from all 1067 apartments was calculated, presenting the following distribution: 10% of the apartments presented an annual electricity use lower than 1 000 kWh, 52% had annual electricity use between 1 000 kWh and 2 000 kWh, 25% presented values between 2 000 kWh and 3 000 kWh, 8% were between 3 000 kWh and 4 000 kWh and finally 4% presented values above 4 000 kWh.

#### 3.2. PV supply

Figure 10 shows a SAM simulation for 1 kWp-PV system in Karlstad, Helsingborg, and Kiruna. As mentioned in section 2.2, the PV system configurations were azimuth of 180° and tilt of 20°. Even though, for Kiruna the optimal tilt would be different, the system was kept the same for all three locations to just observe the influence of the global irradiation in the electricity supply. As one can see, Karlstad annually supplies a similar amount electricity as in a southern Swedish city like Helsingborg. Meanwhile, in northern locations such as Kiruna, the same system supplies less electricity. The graph shows the considerable electricity supply difference between Karlstad and Kiruna, using PV of the same size. The analysis of PV supply allowed to choose the locations that will be focused on the current research, which are Karlstad and Kiruna.



Figure 10 - SAM simulation: Monthly Electricity supplied by a 1kWp PV system in three Swedish cities: Karlstad, Helsingborg, and Kiruna.

#### **3.3.** Electricity balance

Figure 11 and Figure 12 below were created to visualise the correlation of two main components: PV supply of the previously mentioned 1 kWp system and electricity use of an average household in Sweden based on profiles from initial database. It was observed a mismatch between each other between the average electricity use profile and PV supply for Karlstad and Kiruna regions. This mismatch can be seen during the winter months, when the electricity demand is high but solar supply is low due to shorter days. It depicts well the typical situation in Sweden, where due to the geographical location, the self-use can be reduced by occurred imbalance of solar supply and electricity demand. The supply of the same PV size is larger in Karlstad than in Kiruna. However, when comparing two locations, it can be observed that the self-use of PV system in Kiruna is significantly larger than in Karlstad. It emphasizes the impact of correctly choosing a PV system can have on the amount of self-used electricity.



Figure 11 - Daily electricity use to PV supply graph for an average of 1067 studied profiles with PV electricity produced in Karlstad.



Figure 12 - Daily electricity use to PV supply graph for an average of 1067 studied profiles with PV electricity produced in Kiruna.

#### 3.3.1. Sold electricity to the main grid

Figure 13 and Figure 14 show the monthly amount of electricity that a household sells to the main grid in different combination sizes using a 0.5 kWp system. Results showed that the amount of sold electricity decreases as combination size increases. The reason for that is in larger combinations, households trade more surplus electricity that is increasing their PV systems' self-use.



Figure 13 - Electricity sold to the main grid by an average household in different combinations (0.5 kWp). Karlstad.

Figure 14 - Electricity sold to the main grid by an average household in different combinations (0.5 kWp). Kiruna.

In both Karlstad and Kiruna (Figure 13 and Figure 14), the behavior of curves in each combination correlate to monthly electricity supply in each location (Figure 10). In addition, it was observed that the difference between smaller combinations like 2H and 5H is greater than in larger groups. It is reasoned by increased synergy between the electricity use profiles due to their high variation.

#### 3.4. Profitability and payback period

In this section profitability results were analysed over a period of 40 years. The results did not consider tax reduction incentive. Figure 15 and Figure 16 shows the average household profitability in the combinations of 1H, 2H, 5H, 10H, and 50H with a 0.25 kWp system per household. The results were displayed for the scenarios of electricity price growth of 2 % and 3 %.

Figure 15 showed the results in Karlstad. It was observed that a household sharing PV systems between 2 ,5, 10, 20 and 50 households presented a higher profitability when compared to a household with an individual PV system. For example, with an electricity price growth of 2 %, a household in combination 2H presented a profit of 1 610 SEK. It was an increase of 677 SEK when compared to the profit of 933 SEK for a household with an induvial system (1H). The average household profitability kept increasing as more households started share PV systems. However, the greater the number of households included in the combination, the smaller the increase in profit (2 119 SEK) when compared to a household in a fifty-household combination (2 071 SEK). Above all, the average household profitability increased in all combinations when electricity price growth change from 2 % to 3 %.



Figure 15 - Average household profitability with a 0.25 kWp PV system in Karlstad. Comparison between the electricity price growth scenarios of 2 % and 3 %.

Figure 16 showed the results in Kiruna. In none of the combinations, households have shown to be profitable with an electricity price growth of 2 %. Although, it was observed that the average loss decreased as more households were combined. For an electricity price growth of 3 %, an average household presented profit in all combinations, in which the average profitability increased when PV systems were shared within more households.



Figure 16 - Average household profitability with a 0.25 kWp PV system in Kiruna. Comparison between the electricity price growth scenarios of 2 % and 3 %.

Further, the average household profitability was presented in the same combinations but for different PV systems (0.25 kWp, 0.5 kWp, 0.75 kWp, and 1 kWp). Once more, the mentioned PV systems were used for each household, thus all households in each combinations had the same system size. With that in mind, Karlstad's results were displayed in Figure 17 and Figure 18.

Figure 17 presented the results for an electricity price growth of 2 %. The 0.25 kWp and 0.5 kWp systems kept profitable in all combinations. The 0.75 kWp system was only not profitable for one household with an individual system (1H) and the 1 kWp was not profitable in any combination. Moreover, one household with individual system (1H) and in a two-household combination (2H) had the 0.25 kWp system as the most profitable PV system. Whereas in combinations with more than two households, the 0.5 kWp systems presented the highest profitability. Meanwhile, when electricity price growth increased to 3 % (Figure 18), all four PV systems shown to be profitable in all combinations. Among all systems, the 0.75 kWp system was the most profitable. The second most profitable system was the 0.5 kWp followed by 1 kWp and 0.25 kWp.



Figure 17 - Average household profitability in different combinations with different PV systems in Karlstad (Electricity price growth of 2 %).



Figure depicted the distribution of households per PV system, which drew an additional insight on why 0.5 kWp became more profitable than 0.25 kWp in larger combinations (5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H). In the graph, each bar represented the households in the 400 samples. The chart's X-axis displayed each analysed combination

(1H, 2H, 5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H). While the Y-axis displayed the share of households, in percentage, that had that respective PV system size being the most profitable one.



Figure 19 - Distribution of households in each combination regarding the most profitable PV system in Karlstad with an electricity price growth of 2 %.

For the 1H's samples, 71 % of the households had the 0.25 kWp system being their most profitable system. Whereas 19 % of the households had more profit with the 0.5 kWp system. For 2H, the percentage of households being more profitable with 0.25 kWp system was 61 %. Yet the percentage of households being more profitable with a 0.5 kWp system was 27 %. As combinations became larger (5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H) the percentage of households with the most profitable system being 0.5 kWp increased. While the percentage of households with the most profitable system being 0.25 kWp decreased.

Furthermore, Figure 20 and Figure 21 presented the average household profitability in Kiruna with different PV systems sizes. It was observed that none of the four PV systems were profitable when an electricity price growth of 2 % is considered (Figure 20). In that case, 0.25 kWp was the system size closest to be profitable. However, when the electricity price growth was 3 %, the average household profitability increased for all four systems (Figure 21). The 0.25 kWp became profitable in all combinations. The 0.5 kWp system only started to be profitable when household shared PV system (2H, 5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H). While the 0.75 kWp system showed to be profitable in combinations above five households. Still, the 1 kWp system was not profitable in any combination. Finally, a household in combinations 1H and 2H had the 0.25 kWp as the most profitable system. Whereas a household in the combinations 5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H 0.5 kWp demonstrated most profit.





Figure 22 presented the distribution of households per PV system size in samples simulated for Kiruna. It was noticed that in all combination the highest percentage of the households presented 0.25 kWp as the most profitable system size. When increasing the combination size this percentage slightly reduces reaching 83 % in fifty-households' combinations. Along with, the percentage of households having more profit with the 0.5 kWp and 0.75 kWp also increase to 13 % and 3 %, respectively.



Figure 22 - Distribution of households in each combination regarding the most profitable PV system in Kiruna with an electricity price growth of 2 %.

When analysing payback, Figure 23 and Figure 24 showed the average household payback period for Karlstad with electricity prices growth of 2 % and 3 %, respectively. The payback time was represented by the year when the system becomes profitable for the first time. Both Figure 23 and Figure 24 showed a payback reduction for a household sharing a PV system. The shortest payback period was presented for a household with a 0.25 kWp system. The payback curves started to flatten after 5H combination, presenting the same payback period in combinations of 10H and 50H. One also can see, that for an electricity price growth of 2 % (Figure 23), the paybacks results were between 26 years and 45 years. However, when applied a higher electricity price growth of 3% (Figure 24), the results decreased to values between 20 years and 35 years.



Figure 23 - Average payback time in different combinations with different PV systems in Karlstad (Electricity price growth of 2 %).



Figure 25 and Figure 26 presented the average payback period in Kiruna. It was noticed that the average payback periods reduced when the electricity price growth went from 2 % to 3 %. In particular, the 1 kWp system had its payback time reduced by 15 years when electricity price growth was increased. To repeat, the payback curves in Kiruna flatten as well, starting with 5H combination.



igure 25 - Average payback time in aijferent combinations with different PV systems in Kiruna (Electricity price growth of 2 %).



#### 3.5. Sensitivity analysis: tax reduction

Furthermore, tax reduction was implemented for the cases with single households that own PV system.

Figure 27 shows the average profitability in Karlstad, where one household in a case with tax reduction was compared to another case without tax reduction. When considering the tax reduction benefit, one household (1H with tax reduction) presents a higher profitability with any system size when compared to other cases without tax reduction. The only exception was for a system of 0.25 kWp, where it showed to be more profitable when shared with other households. In terms of the most profitable system size, the highest profit of 6 200 SEK was presented for one household with a PV system of 1 kWp, considering tax reduction.



Figure 27 - Comparison of profitability of a single household receiving tax reduction to the shared PV communities without tax reduction in Karlstad with an electricity price growth of 2 %.

One can understand the contribution of the tax reduction in the profitability of single non-sharing household (1H) by observing Figure 28. By just selling electricity surplus, the average household profit for the system sizes of 0.25 kWp and 0.5 kWp were 900 SEK and 400 SEK, respectively. Meanwhile, for the system sizes of 0.75 kWp and 1 kWp, there was no profitability, indeed it presents losses of 900 SEK and 2 300 SEK, respectively. However, the average household tax reduction for the cases with 0.75 kWp and 1 kWp systems were 5 500 SEK and 8 500 SEK. It made those cases to be more profitable than the cases with 0.25 kWp and 0.5 kWp and 0.5 kWp and 2 800 SEK, respectively.



Figure 28 - Impact of tax reduction on the profitability of a single household (1H).

In regard to the situation in Kiruna (Figure 29), it was observed that despite applying tax reduction to a single non-sharing household (1H), there was no profitability in any considered case. However, it was noted that with help of tax reduction the loss was significantly reduced among all PV sizes. As follows, the largest loss decrease from 8 500 SEK to 3 000 SEK was observed for non-sharing household with a 1 kWp system. Tax reduction affected the least households with a system of 0.25 kWp, where profitability was higher among most of the PV-sharing combinations (2H, 5H, 10H, 20H, and 50H). Resuming, with tax reduction applied, loss reduction was higher on cases with larger PV systems like 1 kWp and 0.75 kWp.



Figure 29 - Comparison of profitability of a single household receiving tax reduction to the PV sharing communities without tax reduction in Kiruna with an electricity price growth of 2 %.

The contribution of tax reduction for a single non-sharing household (1H) in Kiruna can be observed in Figure 30. For all cases, even though the tax reduction was applied, its total amount was insufficient to pay off the losses. As following, none of the cases became profitable. The largest loss decrease can be observed for a 0.75 kWp system where the amount was reduced from 5 600 SEK to 2 100 SEK and for 1 kWp system with a reduction from 8 500 SEK to 2 900 SEK.



Figure 30 - Impact of tax reduction on the profitability of a single household. Kiruna.

## 4. Discussion

The results of this study demonstrated that, in both Karlstad and Kiruna, shared PV systems were more profitable than individually owned PV systems. It was achieved because of electricity trading between households in residential communities. As previous research have demonstrated (Liu et al. 2018), prosumers can have more financial benefits trading electricity among themselves than trading with the electricity grid.

It is also seen that households, with individual PV systems, can increase their PV system size when sharing it with other houses to maximize their profit. The reason was found behind this is the increase of the system's electricity self-use by sharing it.

As mentioned by (Ramos et al. 2021), increase in self-use can be achieved with the use of shared PV systems. The analyses of sold electricity to the main grid in combinations of different sizes showed that by sharing the surplus electricity with more households, the amount of sold electricity to the main grid by an individual household reduces. It is explained by the increase of the self-use inside larger communities. In hours when electricity sharing happens, households that are in electricity shortage, use PV electricity surplus from other households. As follows, it results in cost savings for purchased electricity for individual households. The cost savings together with the sold electricity gains not only pays off the investment of larger systems but generates profit.

The payback analysis showed that a household can reduce the system's payback time by start sharing PV electricity with other households. This aligns with previous research (Reis et al. 2019) where it was portrayed the reduction in payback time when comparing sharing PV systems with individually owning one. According to (Palm 2018), the payback period can be one of the main barriers to prevent homeowners to invest in PV systems. Therefore, by reducing the system's payback, homeowners would be more willing to make decisions towards PV installation.

Furthermore, results showed that profitability curves flatten when they reach ten-households combination. It is explained by the variation of household's electricity use in the combination. Electricity trading is enhanced by combining households with different electricity use behaviour. Combinations with a larger number of households have more electricity being traded than smaller combinations. However, as combinations sizes increase the number of households with similar electricity use increases as well. It shows that household's electricity use variation in the combination has started to decrease. Thus, in smaller combinations, the average profitability presents high variation; however, the average profitability starts to normalize when increasing the combination size.

The results of this study showed that having profiles with different electricity use in the combinations enhances electricity trading in the community. Previous study (Fina, Auer, and Friedl 2019) determined the increase in profitability that prosumers can have when sharing electricity within a community of different buildings types. Depending on the building type, the electricity use varies due to different operational schedules, intensity use and size of the building. However, it is worth to note that the findings of the current study are applied only to electricity use profiles of residential buildings. Hence, if other building types were included in the study, it could lead to different profitability results. For the future studies, it is recommended to include other building types and study the effect of trading with mixed categories, e.g., industrial, commercial, and residential.

Moreover, a simple approach was used to create the electricity trading community. The approach was to consider the community as a group of households trading electricity directly with each other and the electricity grid. This would avoid fees or electricity taxes being applied to the electricity trading price. However, many previous research mentioned the necessity of third part, for example a company, to manage the electricity exchange among households and the grid (Liu et al. 2018). If so, some fee could be applied to the trading price. Hence, the price model would have to assure profitability to households trading electricity by setting the trading price amongst household to be higher the grid's selling price and lower than the grid's buying prices. Furthermore, future research can investigate the average household profitability using another pricing model or trading approach.

Another interesting finding was an impact of electricity growth rate on profitability increase. By slightly increasing electricity prices growth rate, it led to significant increase in profitability, and shorter payback time. It is mainly reasoned by the electricity running costs, considering sold electricity gains, on the life cycle costs.

Furthermore, the similar affect could be studied in the future based on the different price scenario. In this study 2019's prices were used; however, in price scenario of 2020-2021 that was not chosen for the main study, there was a notable difference in prices between northern and southern regions. According to the scenario, southern regions presented higher electricity prices for the north of Sweden. Thus, the profitability difference between two regions would potentially grow even bigger. It is also worth to note, that if distinct choices of electricity supplier would have been considered for analysis, the profit could have been different.

One of the findings that deserve additional attention is impact of tax reduction. Currently, subsidies implemented by the government in Sweden are a strong tool to motivate homeowners making decisions towards solar energy sources (Mundaca and Samahita 2019). Tax reduction helps to cover part of the system expenses and create awareness about value of PV systems. Even though, ROT deduction and tax reduction for Green Technology were excluded from this study. These subsidies currently allow to cover part of the expenses directly connected to installation or maintenance. As follows, if this subsidy package was included, the profit could have been slightly bigger than the one presented. Furthermore, in the case of sharing systems in a community, the investment and maintenance costs could be split between participants, that would reduce the expenses and shorten the payback period. The installation could also be simplified with shared PV systems, for example not all households would need individual inverters or mounted structures on the roofs. This would make installation planning simpler and would reduce the system cost. However, this was not considered in the study.

Moreover, there was no physical limitations, e.g. lack of roof space or shading from surroundings that had to be accounted for installation of PV panels in the current study. In terms of simplification, the same orientation, location of PV panels and roof tilt were applied to all cases. However, all mentioned variables can have a significant impact on PV production. Therefore, it is recommended that in the future studies each participative household would be approached individually, hence studies on variation of roof tilt and orientation, as well as location of panels would be performed to see how it affect the results of PV production.

Finally, in literature review, many discovered studies like (Reis et al. 2019) had been actively supporting an idea about using self-use as an indicator for evaluating potential profitability. However, one of the most important findings of this research showed that despite that self-use can help to predict the efficiency of the system, the financial part must be assessed before drawing conclusions about profitability. As the study showed, many variables like running costs of electricity, investment, subsidies, and maintenance costs can significantly influence outcome. Thus, their impact cannot be underestimated in the future studies.

## 5. Conclusion

The research was focused on analysing profitability while looking at multi-scaled communities with shared PV systems. The goal was to demonstrate, how profitable it was for an individual household to share PV systems community sizes and compare it to when they used the system on their own.

Overall, the study's findings confirmed that the individual profitability of a household was greater when PV systems were shared within a group of households, than when the PV system was owned individually. The outcome from the analysing in both locations, Karlstad and Kiruna, showed that no matter the system size or with how many households PV electricity was shared with, shared PV systems were always profitable.

Profitability increase was a result from the electricity trading between households, where a price model was implemented. The price model defined the trading prices among households as the average between the grid's buying prices and selling prices. This enabled electricity trading to be more financially advantageous than exchanging electricity with the grid.

Based on the results, the profitability of households increased when they share electricity in larger communities. However, there is initially a limited amount of surplus electricity the one individual household is able to give away to others, due to the need to cover their own electricity demand first. Nevertheless, the difference in profit between combination sizes eventually gets smaller. It was possible to confirm that depending on the case, after a certain combination size the profitability curve between communities eventually flattens, meaning that profitability stops to increase.

Furthermore, the study confirmed that by sharing electricity with more households the most profitable PV systems size increases. Though, it affected mostly smaller communities where the difference in profit is larger. If to share PV with large amount of households, the difference in profitability is minimal, hence the profit does not overcome the investment costs to own a bigger PV system.

Additionally, LCC analysis clearly stated that the impact of tax reduction cannot be underestimated. Based on the results of this study, it was concluded that tax reduction significantly increases the profitability of the bigger PV systems (0.75 kWp and 1 kWp). It was reasoned by the fact that with an increase of electricity production, more sold electricity can have tax reduction be applied to it. Nevertheless, the study showed that even without tax reduction, cases with smaller systems had higher profitability when shared. Despite all benefits of it, the results demonstrated that PV sharing can be beneficial on its own. Furthermore, since the subsidies are directly dependent on governmental goals, there are no guarantees it is still in place during the following years (Mundaca and Samahita 2019).

All in all, the current research demonstrated that even in countries like Sweden, especially in northern region, with less sunlight availability then southern European countries, the benefits of shared PV system are present. It is shown to be a great comparison to similar previous studies the had been developed in southern European countries.

## 6. References

- Bagge, Hans, Lotti Lindstrii, and Dennis Johansson. 2012. "BRUKARRELATERAD ENERGIANVÄNDNING."
- Bertsch, Valentin, Jutta Geldermann, and Tobias Lühn. 2017. "What Drives the Profitability of Household PV Investments, Self-Consumption and Self-Sufficiency?" *Applied Energy* 204 (October): 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2017.06.055.
- Carli, Raffaele, Mariagrazia Dotoli, Jan Jantzen, Michael Kristensen, and Sarah Ben Othman. 2020. "Energy Scheduling of a Smart Microgrid with Shared Photovoltaic Panels and Storage: The Case of the Ballen Marina in Samsø." *Energy* 198: 117188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2020.117188.
- Chaudhary, Priyanka, and M Rizwan. 2018. "Energy Management Supporting High Penetration of Solar Photovoltaic Generation for Smart Grid Using Solar Forecasts and Pumped Hydro Storage System." *Renewable Energy* 118: 928–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2017.10.113.
- Energimarknadsbyran. 2016. "Guidline to Contacts with Companies." https://www.energimarknadsbyran.se/media/1146/guideline-to-contacts-with-companies.pdf.
- ------. 2022. "Elpris Statistik." https://www.energimarknadsbyran.se/el/dina-avtal-och-kostnader/elpriser-statistik/.
- Farhangi, Hassan. 2010. "The Path of the Smart Grid." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, 28. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPE.2009.934876.
- Fina, Bernadette, Hans Auer, and Werner Friedl. 2019. "Profitability of PV Sharing in Energy Communities: Use Cases for Different Settlement Patterns." *Energy* 189 (December): 116148. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2019.116148.
- Fransson, Victor. 2020. "Prediction of Power and Energy Use in Dwellings Addressing Aspects of Thermal Mass and Occupant Behaviour."
- IEA. 2019. "Energy Policies of IEA Countries."
- IEA PVPS. 2020. "National Survey Report of PV Power Applications in Sweden." New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization (NEDO).
- Israel, Glenn D. 1992a. "Determining Sample Size." https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1968.10490610.
- ———. 1992b. "Sampling the Evidence of Extension Program Impact 1 The Evaluation Purpose Defining the Population." https://edis.ifas.ufl.edu.
- Kan, Xiaoming, Fredrik Hedenus, and Lina Reichenberg. 2020. "The Cost of a Future Low-Carbon Electricity System without Nuclear Power the Case of Sweden." *Energy* 195 (March). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2020.117015.
- Lamnatou, Chr, D Chemisana, and C Cristofari. 2022. "Smart Grids and Smart Technologies in Relation to Photovoltaics, Storage Systems, Buildings and the Environment." *Renewable Energy* 185: 1376–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2021.11.019.
- Lisberg Jensen Malte von Utfall Danielsson Carl, Gustafsson Cecilia Forsbacka Karlsson Tove Næss-Schmidt Sigurd. 2017. "Incitament För Smarta Elnät." http://www.regeringen.se/globalassets/regeringen/dokument/miljo--och-energi-.
- Lithner, Simon. 2021. "The High Electricity Prices in Sweden." https://myrspoven.se/why-the-high-electricity-prices-myrspoven-explains-why/.
- Liu, Nian, Minyang Cheng, Xinghuo Yu, Jiangxia Zhong, and Jinyong Lei. 2018. "Energy-Sharing Provider for PV Prosumer Clusters: A Hybrid Approach Using Stochastic Programming and Stackelberg Game." *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 65 (8): 6740–50. https://doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2018.2793181.
- Liu, Nian, Cheng Wang, Xinghuo Yu, Jiangxia Zhong, and Chaojie Li. 2016. "PV Energy Sharing Cloud: Towards Automatic Pricing and Energy Management." *IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting* 2016-Novem (November). https://doi.org/10.1109/PESGM.2016.7741865.

- Liu, Nian, Xinghuo Yu, Cheng Wang, Chaojie Li, Li Ma, and Jinyong Lei. 2017. "Energy-Sharing Model with Price-Based Demand Response for Microgrids of Peer-to-Peer Prosumers." *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems* 32 (5): 3569–83. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2017.2649558.
- Long, Chao, Jianzhong Wu, Chenghua Zhang, Lee Thomas, Meng Cheng, and Nick Jenkins. 2018. "Peer-to-Peer Energy Trading in a Community Microgrid." *IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting* 2018-Janua (January): 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/PESGM.2017.8274546.
- Luthander, Rasmus, Joakim Widén, Daniel Nilsson, and Jenny Palm. 2015. "Photovoltaic Self-Consumption in Buildings: A Review." *Applied Energy* 142 (March): 80–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2014.12.028.
- Mengelkamp, Esther, Johannes G\u00e4rttner, Kerstin Rock, Scott Kessler, Lawrence Orsini, and Christof Weinhardt. 2018. "Designing Microgrid Energy Markets: A Case Study: The Brooklyn Microgrid." *Applied Energy* 210 (January): 870–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2017.06.054.
- Mundaca, Luis, and Margaret Samahita. 2019. "What Drives Home Solar PV Uptake? Subsidies, Peer Effects and Visibility in Sweden." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.101319.
- Nord Pool. 2022. "Market Data.Day Ahead Electricity Prices." https://www.nordpoolgroup.com/Marketdata1/Dayahead/Area-Prices/ALL1/Hourly/?view=table.
- NREL. 2022. "System Advisor Model." https://sam.nrel.gov/.
- Palm, Jenny. 2018. "Household Installation of Solar Panels-Motives and Barriers in a 10-Year Perspective." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.10.047.
- Palm, Jenny, Maria Eidenskog, and Rasmus Luthander. 2017. "Sufficiency, Change, and Flexibility: Critically Examining the Energy Consumption Profiles of Solar PV Prosumers in Sweden." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.006.
- Parks, D., and A. Wallsten. 2020. "The Struggles of Smart Energy Places: Regulatory Lock-In and the Swedish Electricity Market." Annals of the American Association of Geographers 110 (Smart Spaces and Places): 525–34.
- Peng, Qiao, Ariya Sangwongwanich, Yongheng Yang, and Frede Blaabjerg. 2020. "Grid-Friendly Power Control for Smart Photovoltaic Systems." *Solar Energy* 210: 115–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOLENER.2020.05.001.
- Radl, Johannes, Andreas Fleischhacker, Frida Huglen Revheim, Georg Lettner, and Hans Auer. 2020. "Comparison of Profitability of PV Electricity Sharing in Renewable Energy Communities in Selected European Countries." *Energies 2020, Vol. 13, Page 5007* 13 (19): 5007. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN13195007.
- Ramos, Sérgio, Zahra Foroozandeh, João Soares, Inês Tavares, Pedro Faria, and Zita Vale. 2021. "Shared PV Production in Energy Communities and Buildings Context." *Renewable Energy and Power Quality Journal* 19 (19): 459–64. https://doi.org/10.24084/repqj19.318.
- Reis, Vera, Rita H. Almeida, José A. Silva, and Miguel C. Brito. 2019. "Demand Aggregation for Photovoltaic Self-Consumption." *Energy Reports* 5 (November): 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EGYR.2018.11.002.
- SCB. 2022a. "Consumer Price Index." 2022. https://www.scb.se/en/finding-statistics/statistics-by-subjectarea/prices-and-consumption/consumer-price-index/consumer-price-index-cpi/#:~:text=The CPI measures the average,on prices consumers actually pay.

-. 2022b. "Statistik Database, Sverige." https://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/en/ssd/.

Skatteverket. 2022a. "Energiskatter."

https://www.skatteverket.se/foretag/skatterochavdrag/punktskatter/energiskatter/skattpael.4.15532c7b14 42f256bae5e4c.html#AvdragforforbrukningavelivissadelaravnorraSverige.

—. 2022b. "Mikroproduktion."

*Https://Www.Skatteverket.Se/Privat/Fastigheterochbostad/Mikroproduktionavfornybarelprivatbostad.4.* 12815e4f14a62bc048f41a7.Html.

https://www.skatteverket.se/privat/fastigheterochbostad/mikroproduktionavfornybarelprivatbostad.4.128

15e4f14a62bc048f41a7.html.

- SMHI. 2017. "Normal Globalstrålning under Ett År." 2017. https://www.smhi.se/data/meteorologi/stralning/normal-globalstralning-under-ett-ar-1.2927.
- SolarSvea. 2022. "Electricity Certificate." https://sveasolar.com/blog/electricity-certificate/.
- Swedish Energy Agency. 2016. "Förslag till Strategi För Ökad Användning Av Solel." *Statens Energimyndighet*, 44. http://www.energimyndigheten.se/globalassets/fornybart/solenergi/solen-isamhallet/forslag-till-strategi-for-okad-anvandning-av-solel\_webb.pdf.
- Vattenfall. 2020. "Future Plans and Ambitions."
- Zhang, Yiweia, Chaojiea Ding, Yonga Min, Xuepingb Jiang, Mingtian Fan, and Zuping Zhang. 2014.
  "Development and Experiences of Smart Grid Projects in Europe." *Power System Technology* 38 (7): 1717–23.
- Zhong, Jin, Math Bollen, and Sarah R € Onnberg. 2021. "Towards a 100% Renewable Energy Electricity Generation System in Sweden." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.02.153.



## LUND UNIVERSITY

Divisions of Energy and Building Design, Building Physics and Building Services Department of Building and Environmental Technology